THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-39-398  
Appellate Case No.: 2014-001771

---

Charles Alan Grubb, Roberta Elizabeth Vogt,  
Eleanor Hare, Derek Hodgin, Katherine Lee  
Schwennsen, Linda Gahan, and Virginia Carner.....Respondents

v.

The City of Clemson and The Board of  
Architectural Review, Tom Winkopp, William E. Dukes  
and Monica Zeilinski, Defendants,

Of whom Tom Winkopp is the Appellant.....Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT TOM WINKOPP**

---

Thomas W. Traxler (S.C. Bar #5624)  
CARTER, SMITH, MERRIAM,  
ROGERS & TRAXLER, P.A.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' SOUTH CAROLINA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE NO. 12(b)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS THE APPELLANT WINKOPP'S COUNTERCLAIM FOR FAILURE TO STATE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO CONSTITUTE THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Alan Grubb, Roberta Elizabeth Vogt, Eleanor Hare, Derek Hodgins, Katherine Lee Schwennsen, Linda Gahan and Virginia Carner (“Respondents”) initiated the underlying action on April 2, 2014 (R. p. 9) against The City of Clemson and The Board of Architectural Review (“BAR”), Tom Winkopp, William E. Dukes and Monica Zeilinski, of whom Tom Winkopp is the Appellant in this matter and is hereafter referred to as “Winkopp.” The Defendant William E. Dukes is referred to as “Dukes.”

On April 25, 2014 a Stipulation of Dismissal as to Defendant Monica Zielinski was filed in this matter.

The underlying action by the Respondents challenges the decision of the City of Clemson’s BAR on March 4, 2014 to approve the architectural plans and specifications for a mixed-use real estate development project proposed by the Appellant Winkopp on property being acquired from Dukes. The appeal is based upon *S.C. Code Ann.* §6-29-900 (Supp. 2013).

The Appellant Winkopp served his Answer and Counterclaim in this matter on May 8, 2014 and filed on May 12, 2014. (R. p. 25) Dukes similarly served his Answer on May 8, 2014 with it being filed on May 12, 2014. (R. p. 31) The City of Clemson and its BAR served their Amended Answer on May 8, 2014. (R. p. 36) The Answers of all Defendants denied all allegations of the Complaint and asserted that the BAR had properly approved the architectural plans and specifications for the Winkopp project.

The Counterclaim of Winkopp asserts a cause of action against the Respondents for abuse of process, alleging that the appeal by the Respondents was done for an improper ulterior motive not proper in the conduct of the proceedings.

The Respondents served their Motion To Dismiss the Winkopp Counterclaim on June 5, 2014 (R. p. 44) pursuant to *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP)* Rule 12(b)(6) on the alleged grounds that the Winkopp Counterclaim did not allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.

The Respondents' Memorandum Supporting its Motion to Dismiss dated June 19, 2014 was served on June 20, 2014 (R. p. 46). Winkopp and Dukes' Reply Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss and Reply Memorandum to Motion to Bifurcate and for Protective Order was served on June 24, 2014 and filed on June 27, 2014 (R. p. 51), and the Respondents' Reply to Defendants Tom Winkopp and William E. Dukes' Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion to Dismiss was served on July 2, 2014 and filed on July 7, 2014 (R. p. 61).

A hearing on the Respondents' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss was heard in the Pickens County Courthouse on June 20, 2014 by the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Resident Circuit Court Judge. (R. p. 84).

An Order was issued by the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin on July 7, 2014 and filed on July 10, 2014 (R. p. 2) granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim of Tom Winkopp and ruling on other Motions that are not pertinent to this appeal. That Order was received by counsel for Appellant Winkopp on July 14, 2014.

Winkopp filed and served his Motion to Reconsider, Alter and Amend on July 24, 2014 (R. p. 67). Judge Letitia H. Verdin denied Winkopp's Motion to Reconsider by Form 4 Order dated August 1, 2014 and filed August 5, 2014 (R. p. 7). The Form 4 Order was received by counsel for the Appellant Winkopp on August 7, 2014.

Winkopp served Notice of Appeal on August 13, 2014 appealing the Orders of the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, dated July 7, 2014 and entered of record on July 10, 2014, along with the Order of the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin dated August 1, 2014 and entered of record August 5, 2014.

## FACTS

The Appellant Winkopp was developing a mixed-use real estate project (Project) in the City of Clemson on property being acquired by him from Dukes, and, in order to accomplish the Project, he secured the necessary rezoning from the City of Clemson. The rezoning is not under appeal.

Winkopp then secured the approval needed of the Clemson Board of Architectural Review (“BAR”) that the plans and specifications complied with the zoning and architectural standards promulgated by the City of Clemson ordinances. Throughout the entire process before the BAR he was opposed by the Respondents. After the BAR had concluded that the Project met the checklist requirements of the architectural standards, it approved the construction of the Project on March 4, 2014. It is that approval from which the Respondents presently take their appeal pursuant to *S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-900* (Supp. 2013).

When Respondents appealed the decision of the BAR, Winkopp counterclaimed for abuse of process and asserted that the appeal by the Respondents was nothing more than an effort by them to delay or kill the Project, an ulterior motive not proper in the conduct of the proceedings.

In support of its cause of action for abuse of process, Winkopp’s Counterclaim alleged:

1. The *sole purpose* of the appeal by the Petitioners [Respondents] is *not* to seek an appellate review of the decision of BAR on the merits.
2. The *sole purpose* was, instead, to delay his Project for the purposes of killing it.
3. The Respondents had *no interest* in the merits of the appeal themselves.

4. This act of appealing for the sole purpose of delaying and killing the Project was a willful act in the use of process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings.
5. This act was used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project), not legitimate in the use of this process.

The foregoing allegations are set forth in Paragraph 27 of the Winkopp Answer and Counterclaim. (R. p. 29).

6. This was done willfully and intentionally. (R. p. 29).

The Respondents' filed and served their Motion to Dismiss Winkopp's Counterclaim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRPC)*.

The Trial Court heard the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and entertained Memoranda of Law from the Respondents and Winkopp and on July 7, 2014 issued its Order ("Order") granting the Motion to Dismiss. Winkopp's Motion to Reconsider, Alter and Amend was denied by a Form 4 Order that did not set out any additional findings or conclusions. Therefore, the Trial Court's reasoning is set out fully in its Order dated July 7, 2014.

## ARGUMENT

### **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' *SCRCP* RULE 12(b)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS THE APPELLANT WINKOPP'S COUNTERCLAIM FOR FAILURE TO STATE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO CONSTITUTE THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS.**

The Respondents' Motion To Dismiss the Winkopp Counterclaim was based on *SCRCP* Rule 12(b)(6), which means that the Trial Court's analysis was not to weigh the evidence and make a decision on the merits but instead to look at the bare allegations of the Counterclaim to determine if they set forth facts to support the cause of action for abuse of process. "In deciding the motion, the court must view the allegations in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, 'with every doubt resolved in his favor.' [citation omitted]. The trial court, therefore, must refuse a 12(b)(6) motion if the 'facts alleged and reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.'" *Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers International Union*, 351 S.C. 65, 69, 567 S.E.2d 251, 252-53 (Ct. App. 2002).

Therefore, the foregoing allegations of the Winkopp Counterclaim must be viewed in a light most favorable to Winkopp, resolving every doubt in his favor and making reasonable inferences therefrom. In determining if the Counterclaim sets out facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for abuse of process, the Trial Court found that Winkopp had not pled facts sufficient to state a cause of action for abuse of process, and it erred in failing to (1) view the allegations in the light most favorable to Winkopp, (2) resolve every doubt in his favor, and (3) find that the "facts alleged and reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle" Winkopp to relief for abuse of process.

This Argument tracks the conclusions of the Trial Court's Order and juxtaposes the allegations in Winkopp's Counterclaim to establish that the Counterclaim more than adequately pled the required elements as propounded by the Trial Court and the law:

1. **The Trial Court found:** “To prevail, the claimant must show the accused (1) acted with an ulterior motive and (2) performed ‘a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.’” [citations omitted]. (R. p. 3).

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “He [Winkopp] is further informed and believes that *this appeal is done for no purpose other than attempting to sabotage the Project and to prevent him from developing this Project in accordance with his plans.* Winkopp further specifically alleges that the ulterior motive of this lawsuit or Petition is not for a legitimate review and appeal of the decision of the BAR, *but is instead done with the ulterior motive of delay or killing the project....*” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

Therefore, the Counterclaim patently alleges the first element of ulterior motive.

The question then becomes whether the Counterclaim also alleges “a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.”

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a *willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings* and it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not legitimate in the use of this process.” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

a. A willful overt act....

i. **Counterclaim Allegation:** “Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a *willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings* and it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not legitimate in the use of this process.” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

ii. **Counterclaim Allegation:** “These acts by the Plaintiffs [Respondents] were willful and intentional.” (R. p. 29).

b. In the use of the process...

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a willful act *in the use of the process* not proper in the conduct of these proceedings....” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

c. That is not proper in the conduct of these proceedings....

i. **Counterclaim Allegation:** “Winkopp further specifically alleges that the ulterior motive of this lawsuit or Petition is not for a legitimate review and appeal of the decision of the BAR, but is instead done with the ulterior motive of delaying or killing the Project, which they could not accomplish before Clemson City Council with the re-zoning or before the BAR. Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a willful act in the use of process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings and *it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not legitimate in the use of this process.*” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

**2. The Trial Court also found:** “If one undertakes to use the judicial process to further an objective for which the process was not intended, the ulterior motive is met.” [citation omitted]. (R. p. 3).

The foregoing allegations from the Counterclaim patently meet that requirement since they allege that the appeal from the Clemson BAR was done “with the ulterior motive of delay or killing the project” and as “a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings.” (R. p. 29).

**3. The Trial Court further found that the complaint (sic) must meet the second element (performed “a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding”) and allege “[s]ome definite act...not authorized by the process or aimed at an object not legitimate in the use of the process.” [citation omitted].** (R. p. 4).

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “Further, Winkopp alleges that this [the appeal from BAR] constitutes a *willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings and it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not legitimate in the use of this process.*” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

4. The Trial Court then held that this second element includes three components: “(1) a ‘willful’ or overt act which is performed (2) through the use of the process and which is (3) ‘improper either because it is (a) unauthorized or (b) aimed at an illegitimate collateral objective.’” (R. p. 4)

a. As to element of “willful” or overt act,

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a *willful act* and it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not legitimate in the use of this process.” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “These acts by the Plaintiffs [Respondents] were willful and intentional.” (R. p. 29).

b. As to element of “performed through the use of the process,”

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a willful act *in the use of the process* not proper in the conduct of these proceedings....” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

c. As to the element of which is (3) “improper either because it is (a) unauthorized or (b) aimed at an illegitimate collateral objective,”

**Counterclaim Allegation:** “Winkopp further specifically alleges that the ulterior motive of this lawsuit or Petition is not for a legitimate review and appeal of the decision of the BAR, but is instead done with the ulterior motive of delaying or killing the Project, which they could not accomplish before Clemson City Council with the re-zoning or before the BAR. Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a willful act in the use of process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings and *it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not legitimate in the use of this process.*” (R. p. 29)(emphasis added).

In the same vein, the Court also erred in its Order when it stated: “Nowhere in the Respondents’ [Winkopp’s] complaint [sic] do they allege facts that would give rise to the alleged misuse of the legal process by Petitioners [Respondents].” (R. p. 4) That is error. That is specifically and factually alleged as quoted above. In support of this statement, the Trial Court proceeded to state: “A complaint which neglects to allege a perversion or misuse of the process by omitting facts necessary to show an *improper* willful act in the

use of the process has not stated a cause of action for abuse of process and fails as a matter of law.” (R. p. 4), quoting *Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers International Union*, 351 S.C. 65, 77, 567 S.E.2d 251, 254 (Ct. App. 2002).

The Court also erred in finding: “The facts alleged are not sufficient to support an essential element of this cause of action – that Petitioners [Respondents in the present appeal] are appealing the Board’s decision solely to delay, sabotage, or ‘kill’ the project, a purpose for which the appellate process is not intended.” (R. p. 4). The foregoing allegations patently make those assertions. The very essence of the Counterclaim that is clearly alleged is that the Respondents had *no motive whatsoever* for the appeal other than trying to kill the Project and decided to pursue the appeal, not because of any merits of the appeal, but instead to delay the Project with the hopes of killing it. That is clearly “aimed at an illegitimate collateral objective.”

Similarly, the Court erred in its Order in finding: “Respondents’ [Winkopp’s] complaint [sic] must set forth specific facts showing the Petitioners [Respondents in the present appeal] are using the appellate process in this case primarily for a purpose for which the process is not intended. The allegations of the complaint [sic] fall short of the standard.” (R. p. 4). The error is that the allegations of the Winkopp Counterclaim are sufficient to specifically plead facts necessary to support the elements of the cause of action for abuse of process and do not fall short of the standard.

The Trial Court also erred in finding that the “only fact Respondents [Winkopp] allege” is that “Respondent Winkopp is ‘informed and believes’ Petitioners [Respondents in the present appeal] are aware the appeal is ‘frivolous and without merit’ and are appealing the decision of the Board only in an attempt to ‘kill or delay’ the development

project.” (R. p. 4). That is not the only fact alleged by Winkopp. This is not a malicious prosecution case yet because the underlying appeal has not yet been terminated in favor of Winkopp, and the allegation that the appeal is “frivolous and without merit” is not an essential element of the abuse of process cause of action, but the fact that the appeal was frivolous and without merit is probative of the intent of the Respondents to use the appeals process for the ulterior motive of killing the project, a result that they could not otherwise obtain but for the appeal process.

The Trial Court in its Order further erred in finding that the Winkopp Counterclaim did not allege facts specific to show an ulterior purpose on the part of the Respondents or that they took willful acts to abuse the legal process, the error being that the allegations of the Winkopp Counterclaim did, in fact, allege such facts. Those allegations are set out above and do not need to be reiterated here yet again.

The Court also erred in failing to find and conclude that Winkopp alleged facts asserting that the Respondents “performed ‘a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.’” (R. p. 3). That allegation is made specifically in Paragraph 27 of the Counterclaim. (R. p. 29).

The Court also errs when it appears to conclude that the Respondents herein “[have] done nothing more than carry out the process to its authorized conclusion, even though with bad intentions” (R. p. 4) or “[had] an incidental or concurrent motive of spite or merely seeks to gain a collateral advantage from the process,” (R. p. 5), or that there was only an ulterior motive only without more. (R. p. 5).

If this Court were to affirm the Trial Court and adopt the position urged by the Respondents, the Court would hold, as a matter of law, that no abuse of process could

ever possibly lie in an appeal of a permitting or licensing decision by a governmental entity or rezoning matter, no matter how dark and malicious the intent was behind such appeal. In such an instance, the Court would be abandoning a Rule 12(b)(6) analysis of matching the allegations of a pleading against the elements of the cause of action, and the Court would effectively be ruling, as a matter of law, that an appeal from such a governmental decision could never, ever be an abuse of process regardless of the circumstances or intent. That would mean that this Court would be ruling that a cause of action for abuse of process is not a cognizable cause of action in such a case.

Stated more bluntly, if the Court affirms the Trial Court and adopts the position propounded by the Respondents, the Court will be ruling that there can never, ever be an abuse of process by such an appeal even if the Respondents themselves stood up before the Court and boldly and defiantly announced to the Court that their *sole* purpose was to ruin the Project and that they had no other interest whatsoever in the merits of the appeal. That is the effect of the Trial Court's Order. That position removes the elements of "ulterior motive" and "willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of proceedings" from consideration and eliminates any cause of action for abuse of process in such a case. That is not the law of the State of South Carolina.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has implicitly recognized a cause of action for abuse of process in a zoning appeal, and there is no logical difference between a zoning appeal and an architectural board appeal. In *LaMotte v. Punchline of Columbia, Inc.*, 296 S.C. 66, 370 S.E.2d 711 (1988), Punchline of Columbia, Inc. secured required variances

and permitting from the City of Columbia, which LaMotte and others appealed. While that was essentially a zoning appeal, nonetheless, it is analogous to the case before this Court. The Supreme Court upheld the Circuit Court granting summary judgment (it was not a Rule 12(b)(6) case) stating that the record indicated that “appellant had not asserted a cause of action for abuse of process because they had not alleged that respondent engaged in ‘a willful act in the use of the process not proper under the regular conduct of the proceedings.’” *Id.* at 71, 370 S.E.2d at 713. Therefore, the South Carolina Supreme Court has implicitly acknowledged the validity of a cause of action for abuse of process for a “malicious appeal” and has recognized an abuse of process can lie in such an appeal. The Supreme Court in the *LaMotte* case simply found that the record did not show that the plaintiff in that case had asserted such a cause of action since they did not allege that the respondents engaged in “a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the conduct of the proceedings.” That allegation in *LaMotte* that the Supreme Court found deficient does in fact lie in the express wording of the Counterclaim in this matter: “He [Winkopp] is further informed and believes that this appeal is done for no purpose other than attempting to sabotage the Project and to prevent him from developing his Project in accordance with his plans. Winkopp further specifically alleges that the ulterior motive of this lawsuit or Petition is not for a legitimate review and appeal of the decision of the BAR, but is instead done with the ulterior motive of delaying or killing the Project, which they could not accomplish before Clemson City Council with the re-zoning or before the BAR. Further, Winkopp alleges that this constitutes a willful act in the use of process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings and it is used to gain an objective (killing or delaying of the Project) not

legitimate in the use of this process.” (R. p. 29). In other words, the allegation that was defectively missing in *LaMotte* was expressly alleged in the Winkopp Counterclaim.

Even if the underlying appeal of the BAR decision were decided in favor of the Respondents, nonetheless, a cause of action for abuse of process would still lie. It is the perversion of the legal process of the appeal in order to gain any collateral advantage that is the essence of the abuse of process cause of action. That is why “[i]t is settled that it is unnecessary to show that the proceeding complained of was instituted without probable cause or was terminated in favor of the defendant in order for him to recover for abuse of process.” *Ransome v. Mimms*, 320 F. Supp. 1110, 1114 (D.C.S.C. 1971), citing 1 Am. Jur. 2d *Abuse of Process* §7 (1962).

It is hard to imagine a pleading more carefully tracking the established elements of an established cause of action than Winkopp’s Counterclaim, and the Counterclaim specifically identifies that the ulterior purpose and the specific willful, overt act that were to use the appeal process in an effort to delay or kill the Project.

Further, the law does not require a separate and overt act accompanying the ulterior motive, and the Winkopp Counterclaim did not have to allege such facts. The law does not require an express extortion or a pronouncement of stated malicious intent or purpose. It does not require some separate and overt act to corroborate the ulterior motive and the malicious purpose of using the process. The act of using the process primarily to gain advantage or benefit on a collateral matter, such as killing a development project, is a sufficient “definite act or threat not authorized by the process or aimed at an object not

legitimate in the use of the process.” See *Hainer v. American Medical Intern., Inc.*, 328 S.C. 128, 136, 492 S.E.2d 103, 107 (1997).

The law instead requires what the South Carolina Supreme Court said in *Huggins v. Winn–Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 206, 153 S.E.2d 693 (1967):

The essential elements of abuse of process, as the tort has developed, have been stated to be: first, an ulterior purpose, and second, a wilful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding. Some definite act or threat not authorized by the process, or aimed at an objective not legitimate in the use of the process, is required; and there is no liability where the defendant has done nothing more than carry out the process to its authorized conclusion, even though with bad intentions. The improper purpose usually takes the form of coercion to obtain a collateral advantage, not properly involved in the proceeding itself, such as the surrender of property or the payment of money, by the use of the process as a threat or club.

*Id.* at 209, 153 S.E.2d at 694.

Abuse of process is “usually” *evidenced* by a separate, overt threat, *id.*, but the law does not require it as an *element* of the cause of action for abuse of process.

The Trial Court misunderstood and misapplied the law with regard to abuse of process in a “hyper-technical manner...that vitiate[s] the purpose for which the cause of action exists.” *Hainer v. American Medical Intern., Inc.*, 328 S.C. 128, 143, 492 S.E.2d 103, 111 (1997) (Toal, J. dissenting). Such a “hyper-technical” application of *SCRPC* Rule 12(b)(6) harkens back to the old days of Code Pleading when pleadings were works of engineering art and were more scrutinized for technical errors than fair notice pleading. However, even applying the technical reading, the allegations of the Winkopp Counterclaim are carefully crafted to allege each and every element of the cause of action for abuse of process.

Justice (now Chief Justice) Toal correctly set forth the application of the law on abuse of process in her dissent in *Hainer*. There she stated:

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