THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-39-0398  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001771

---

Charles Alan Grubb, Roberta Elizabeth Vogt,  
Eleanor Hare, Derek Hodgins, Katherine  
Lee Schwennsen, Linda Gahan,  
and Virginia Carner ..... Respondents,

v.

The City of Clemson and The Board of  
Architectural Review, Tom Winkopp,  
William E. Dukes, and Monica Zeilinski,  
Defendants,

Of whom Tom Winkopp is the Appellant.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Robert T. Lyles, Jr., Esquire  
LYLES & LYLES, LLC  
342 East Bay Street

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENTS' RULE 12(b)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIM AS IT DID NOT STATE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO CONSTITUTE THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS

The tort of abuse of process is intended to compensate a party for harm resulting from another party's *misuse* of the legal system. *Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 370, 756 S.E.2d 128, 133 (2014) (emphasis added). Since Winkopp does not and cannot allege Respondents of "misuse" of the appeal, it proves that the Appellant's Counterclaim fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, and Judge Verdin's Order must be affirmed.

In *Doe v. Marion*, the Court set forth the standard of review for cases that are dismissed based upon a 12(b)(6), SCRPC motion, stating:

In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). "The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief." *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 5, 522 S.E.2d 137, 139 (1999). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Toussaint v. Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987).

When faced with a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the Court must dispose of it based solely upon the allegations pled in the claim and with the allegations of the claim being viewed as admitted. *Hambrick v. GMAC Mortgage Corporation*, 370 S.C. 118, 121-22, 634 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct. App. 2006). That being said, "the circuit court may dismiss a claim

when the [Petitioners] demonstrate the [Counterclaimant's] 'failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action' in the pleadings filed with the court." *Id.* at 121-22, 634 S.E.2d at 7.

Relative to an abuse of process cause of action, a litigant must plead "(1) an ulterior purpose, and (2) a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding." *Food Lion v. United Food*, 351 S.C. 65, 71, 567 S.E.2d 251, 53 (Ct. App. 2002). Appellant's Counterclaim falls short of these requirements.

Pleading an "ulterior purpose" requires an allegation that the process was, or is being, used to gain an objective not legitimate in the use of the process. *Food Lion*, 351 S.C. at 71, 567 S.E.2d at 253. However, simply alleging a party has an ulterior purpose, has a bad, incidental, or concurrent motive, or acts out of spite, such as generally alleged in Appellant's Counterclaim, does not give rise to an abuse of process cause of action. *Id.* at 74, 567 S.E.2d at 255.

In addition to having to plead an ulterior purpose, an abuse of process cause of action also requires the pleading of a 1.) willful or overt act 2.) in the use of the process 3.) that is improper because it is either (a) unauthorized or (b) aimed at an illegitimate collateral objective. *Food Lion*, 351 S.C. at 71, 567 S.E.2d at 254. Stated another way, the willful act required to be alleged requires misuse of the legal process by "[s]ome definite act...not authorized by the process or aimed at an object not legitimate in the use of the process." *Hainer v. Am Med Int'l*, 328 SC 128, 136, 492 S.E. 2d 103, 107 (1997).

When both the ulterior motive and willful acts are viewed together it is evident the gravamen of this cause of action centers on "events occurring outside the process" where the process "takes the form of coercion... such as the surrender of property or the payment of money" or where the process is used like "a threat or a club". *D.R. Horton v. Wescott Land Co.*, 398 S.C. 528, 551, 730 S.E.2d 340, 352 (Ct. App. 2012). Said differently, "[t]here is, in other

words, a form of extortion, and it is what is done in the course of negotiation, rather than the issuance or any formal use of the process itself, which constitutes the tort.” *Id.* at 551, 730 S.E.2d at 352.

Rather than alleging extortive or strong-arm tactics, threats, or coercion, Appellant claims that by Respondents’ exercising their statutory right to appeal the BAR’s decision they abused the legal process. (R. p. 29, lines 9-19, lines 21-23, and p. 30, lines 1-2) However, while Respondents’ Petition, and the legal process that results from it, may result in the delay, future modification, or future rejection of the Winkopp project, Appellant has not and cannot allege Respondents did anything other than what they are legally able and entitled to do under the BAR appeal statute. If an authorized appeal causes the delay of, or change to, a project, then that is simply a result of a fully authorized act. Appellant’s allegations, even when deemed admitted, only show that Respondents’ acts were both (a) authorized by S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-900 and (b) aimed at a legitimate objective – a review of the BAR decision and the process(es) involved with the same. If Petitioners/Respondents obtain some collateral advantage by their seeing this legal process through to its conclusion, that is the nature of litigation and a risk Appellant Winkopp or any other individual takes on when proposing this or any other project to any BAR. Further though, and more importantly, the potential to obtain this collateral advantage does not mean the process has been abused. *See Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 371, 756 S.E.2d 128, 133 (2014) (citing *Food Lion*, 351 S.C. at 74-75, 567 S.E.2d at 255-56) (“there is no abuse of process when a party seeks to gain a collateral advantage from the process”).

The importance of the Court’s decision on this issue cannot be overstated. Appellant Winkopp claims affirming Judge Verdin’s Order will set the precedent that no abuse of process claim would lie in the circumstance of the appeal of a decision such as that of the BAR.

However, what the Appellant fails to acknowledge is that even if there is a dark or malicious intent to the initiation of the legal process, that does not, in and of itself, create a cause of action. There still must be a corresponding allegation of a definite, willful act that is not authorized by the process or aimed at misusing the legal process to obtain an illegitimate result.

Rather than creating hypotheticals to illustrate potential theories of how an abuse of process cause of action could be derived in this matter, this Court would be better served by reviewing precedent that shows what constitutes such a willful act that renders use of the legal process improper. For instance, in *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 206, 153 S.E.2d 693 (1967), the Defendant, through its employee, used the legal process “for the ulterior purpose of coercing the plaintiff into paying ... for merchandise that the store manager ‘felt’ he had previously taken.” *Id.* at 212, 153 S.E.2d at 696. There, the Supreme Court properly realized that, while the Plaintiff had in fact shoplifted some items from the store, the legal process was “tainted throughout with the ulterior and improper purpose” of coercing the Plaintiff to pay for separate, other items not involved in the legal process before the Court. Similarly in *Food Lion v. United Food*, 351 S.C. 65, 71, 567 S.E.2d 251, 53 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court properly recognized that Defendants’ previous filing and participation in a lawsuit against Food Lion did not give rise to an abuse of process cause of action when Food Lion did not show the filing of the lawsuit was done in such a manner to misuse the legal process to obtain a result not legitimately available through that process.

Just as in *Food Lion*, while Appellant Winkopp claims that Respondents’ Petition was filed with an ulterior motive and that “this [ulterior motive] constitutes a willful act in the use of process not proper in the conduct of these proceedings”, he does not specify any other separate willful act that was coercive or similarly improper and done to achieve a result separate and apart

from that legitimately expected from the process. (R. p. 29, lines 9-19). Instead, Appellant's claim presupposes that someone, specifically him, has the right to preliminarily assess the merits of an appeal of the BAR with respect to one of his projects. If he finds the appeal to be without merit (and why would he ever find an appeal of the approval of a project of his to be meritorious?), the appeal then becomes actionable. That is in direct derogation of the rights of the public with respect to the authorized appeal of a decision of the BAR, effectively depriving members of the public of their statutory and due process rights. It also serves to make the Appellant party-jury-judge with respect to the approval process of his projects. If Appellant Winkopp's claim stands, *anyone* who files an appeal of any BAR decision is subjected to being sued for damages by an interested party, dramatically modifying the clear language of S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-900. With his claim, Appellant seeks to chill the right of the public to take lawful exception to the approval of the projects he seeks to build, and, more importantly, the process by which his project was approved to be built. If there is the potential for a coercive act with which the Court should concern itself in this matter, one could not be clearer.

To put a final point in the issue, at oral argument counsel for Winkopp told the Court that even if the Respondents' appeal is successful (meaning a finding that the decision of the BAR is unlawful and therefore reversed), Winkopp would still have the right to pursue his claim for abuse of process. (R. p. 102, lines 22-25, p. 103, lines 15-19, lines 21-25, p.104, lines 1-17) That would mean that any litigant, even successful ones, could be sued for abuse of process and find themselves defending their motives in bringing successful claims. That is simply preposterous.